No. 119208-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

COREFIRST BANK & TRUST F/K/A COMMERCE BANK & TRUST, Plaintiff/Appellee,

VS.

TIMOTHY F. DEGGINGER A/K/A, TIMOTHY DEGGENGER, ET AL., Defendant/Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT TIMOTHY F. DEGGINGER

Appeal from the District Court of Shawnee County, Kansas The Honorable Judge Larry D. Hendricks District Court Case Number 2015-CV-412

> ERIC KJORLIE, #08065 Attorney at Law 827 SW Topeka Blvd. Topeka, Kansas 66612-1608 Telephone: (785) 232-6868 Facsimile: (785) 232-6878

E-mail: kjorlielaw@sbcglobal.net Attorney for Defendant/Appellant

ORAL ARGUMENT IS REQUESTED

NATURE OF THE CASE

Upon full review the Defendant/Appellant Timothy F. Degginger, hereafter referred to at times as the "Borrower," respectfully shows this Honorable Appellate Court that this case on appeal is a sordid example of what happens when the Trial Court says, "I don't understand," rather than what is mandated by Supreme Rule 183(j) requiring the Trial Court to determine presented fact controversy and then make timely "findings of fact and conclusions of law on all issues presented." (2017 Kan. S. Ct. R. 224) (Emphasis supplied.) (Also, see Labette Cty. Med. Center v. Kansas Dept. of Health and Environment, No.116,416, 2017 WL 3203383(Kan. App. 2017) (unpublished opinion); (See also Appendix A - Fish/Bednasek v. Kobach, "Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law".)

The Trial Court's failure to rule as such and in a timely manner, on the facts shown in this instant Record on Appeal, has atypically resulted in two (2) appeals to the Kansas Court of Appeals being involuntarily dismissed upon a representation to the Appellate Court by Plaintiff/Appellee CoreFirst Bank and Trust, hereafter referred to at times as the "Bank," complaining of issues "yet to be determined" and not articulated as "final," which has resulted in the first foreclosure case being voluntarily dismissed by the Bank within an approximate month on the Bank's "Motion for Relief From Judgment under K.S.A. 60-260(b)(1)" which by the terms of this statutory provision requires as a prerequisite relief only from a final judgment. (Amended R.O.A., Vol. 1, PP. 230-235.)

The Trial Court granted this Motion and then CoreFirst filed a second what the Borrower states is/was a "Quiet Title Action-Mortgage Foreclosure"; instead of a probated Determination of Descent to the subject pledged real estate, which is also believed to be a flawed approach under existing Kansas Mortgage Law.

The Trial Court then during this "second phase" in the manner of its delayed rulings, or in its ruling in a manner that precluded the Borrower from conducting discovery, thereby barred him his defenses and counterclaims raised by him in his filed Answer and Counterclaims to the Quiet Title Action-Mortgage Foreclosure in an attempt to cure its failed initial Mortgage Foreclosure Action. (Amended R.O.A., Vol. 1, PP. 346-353.) Everyone agreed CoreFirst and the Court had only "foreclosed" a fractional interest to the real estate pledged as security for the note in 2004, and when again it was refinanced in 2011.

For three (3) painful years, this litigation of mortgage foreclosure continued by judicial misunderstanding of mortgage foreclosure; UCC Holder in Due Course, improper use of an quiet title action to "remedy a fractional interest", and in so doing improperly disregarded the rights of known lienholders to the subject real estate having priority to the title to the property and adverse to the known pre-existing claims of the Internal Revenue Service's perfected Federal Tax Lien; and the District Court again failing to provide timely findings of facts and conclusions of law raised by the Borrower in its Second Motion to Dismiss for Appellate review.

The Appellant/Defendant Borrower contends that as a result of the inaction of the Trial Court to determine issues raised in a timely manner, coupled with the Bank's failure to journalize what the Trial Court designated as "final orders," these orders were subject to the Bank's not providing Rule 170 findings of fact and conclusions of law, the appeals as well as a vigorous defense culminated in a excessive and unfair award of attorney's fees to the Bank, and which attorney's fees award has never been liquidated to a sum certain, however believed to be in excess of (\$24,881.77). This resulted in the Borrower being forced to appeal twice on this record within thirty (30) days of adverse rulings that failed to balance the litigant's needs and final resources which Borrower requests relief from the judgment on appeal. The Borrower raises on appeal his suggestion that due to the unexplained inaction on the Bank's failure to submit the requisite "final" order to appeal, should have a bearing on determining this appeal on the merits, as well as effecting the attorney's fees issues on the facts shown in this extensive Record on Appeal.

Thus, in the first instance, the Appellate Court determined in Appellate Case No. 115,717 that:

"The district court's April 5, 2016, journal entry very clearly showed that the issue of property ownership remains outstanding."

And in Appellate Case No. 118,341 that:

"While there may be a final judgement on Appellant's counterclaims, the district court has not yet entered a final judgment on Appellee's primary claim."

Thus, within the foregoing panoply of either the inaction on the part of the Trial Court to timely require findings of fact and conclusions of law deemed important and essential by the Appellate Court and in the manner required by the Appellate Court's guidance in *Labette County Medical Center*, supra., and the failure of the Court to allow discovery to make requisite findings of fact and conclusions of law on issues raised in its Counterclaims (Amended R.O.A., Vol. 1, PP. 349-352.), the Trial Court had assumed that the Defendant/Appellant Borrower, in its attempt to be treated fairly and to "have his day in court," had the burden of proof in determining the existence or non-existence of a fractional interest. (Amended R.O.A., Vol. 5, Transcript P. 15, Lines 9-21; and PP. 47-48, Lines 18-25 and 1-23.)

Borrower contends that while only a Probate Descent Action may determine the existence of heirs to the Estate, rather than a Quiet Tile proceeding, that in either case, neither would provide a remedy in applying existing Kansas Mortgage law applying the unity rules at the time of the Mortgages inception to protect negotiability of the Note which always follows the note as a bedrock of commercial law incident to the Kansas Uniform Commercial Code at Chapter 3 of Article 84.

Lastly, Borrower requests appellate relief from the Court's judgment and contends that it was improper that the Court determined that the Borrower in equity is to be penalized on this Record especially when his requests in his Counterclaims alleging the existence of a "Fraud upon the Court" were dismissed by a Motion without benefit of and

prior to discovery on this issue being denied Borrower, by the Trial Court imposing inordinate fees ordering the Borrower to his paying attorney's fees to the Bank in the assumed requested amount of (\$24,881.77). [However, again, there is no journal entry submitted by the Bank, so one may assume it is the Court's direction that the amount of (\$24,881.77) is the Court's final judgement for which the instant appeal is also taken.]

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the District Court followed Chapter 60 Notice Procedures on the instant Record on Appeal.
- II. Whether the District Court erred in failing to follow the UCC's Article 3 requirement that on a promissory note where there are multiple parties to the mortgage all of the parties must all be joined in the same action for the Bank to claim the right to be a holder in due course.
 - III. The District Court erred in determining that contended defects to title to the real estate was present in the case when applying the Kansas Unity Rule could be rectified by approving the Bank's remedy requested in its Second Petition, allowing it to obtain, or attempt to obtain, both in rem and in personam jurisdiction in the instant mortgage foreclosure proceedings. The Plaintiff has on this Record improperly attempted to determine a cure for its mortgage deficiency by creating an equitable mortgage; however, it is believed by the Borrower such an attempt to be based improperly upon the use of a in rem quiet title proceeding determined by the Kansas courts as being an improper method to determine rights inherent to a in personam foreclosure action. See Bank of Blue Valley v. Duggan Homes, Inc., 48 Kan. App. 2d 828, 303 P.3d 1272 (2013) and FV-I, Inc., In Trust for Morgan Stanley Mortgage Capital Holdings, LLC v. Constance M. Kallevig, et.al., and Bank of the Prairie, (Appeal No. 111,235).
- IV. The District Court erred in not granting Defendant's Motion to Dismiss in ruling against the Defendant on the foregoing Issues I III.
- V. The District Court erred on the instant Record in assessing attorney's fees, in whole or in part, to the Plaintiff on this Record on Appeal, the same being inequitable, arbitrary and capricious and should be set aside.

VI. The Hon. District Judge Larry D. Hendricks, did not apply the correct legal standard of *Brueggemann v. Schimke*, 239 Kan. 245, 718 p.2d 635 (1986) giving the Defendant/Appellant the benefit of every doubt on the submisible facts in the Record in its rulings below concerning Defendant/Appellant's pre-discovery K.S.A. 60-212 Motion and Renewed Motion to Dismiss without benefit of hearing, or of utilization of discovery in part to determine the essential jurisdictional prerequisite facts to determine the existence of a Mortgage; and all without the benefit of hearing was error.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

- 1. CoreFirst of Topeka, Kansas, is a commercial bank and Borrower obtained a commercial loan on pledged property in the amount of \$50,000.00 in 2004.

 (Amended R.O.A., Vol. 1, P. 28.)
- 2. This Appeal to the Kansas Court of Appeals involves the Bank, trying to foreclose a Mortgage insured by Capital Title Insurance Co, where CoreFirst, on May 6, 2015 at paragraph 13 alleges Timothy Degginger was the "absolute owner" of the property. (Amended R.O.A., Vol. 1, P. 28.)
- 3. CoreFirst was subordinated to a Federal Tax Lien in the amount of \$19,525.28 recorded in the office of the Register of Deeds, Shawnee County, on September 24, 2001, before the putative mortgage, of December 3, 2004, at Book 3549, page 28 and the heirs of the Estate of George J. Degginger. (Amended R.O.A., Vol. 1, P. 172.)

- CoreFirst and Stewart Title Guaranty Company classified the title as unmarketable. (Amended R.O.A., Vol. 1, PP. 175- 181.) (See also Appendix "B" -Stewart Loan Policy #C0901060)
- 5. CoreFirst did not petition to foreclose on the apriori Federal Tax Lien on August 6, 2015. (Amended R.O.A., Vo. 11, P. 26.)
- 6. David S. Fricke, on August 5, 2015, as a licensed attorney and general counsel to CoreFirst filed a supporting affidavit that, "based on my own personal knowledge," (Amended R.O.A., Vol. 1, P. 63.) Degginger at Paragraph 7 "was the absolute owner" of title. (Amended R.O.A., Vol. 1, P. 64.)
- 7. A Response of the Defendant to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment was filed on October 21, 2015. (Amended R.O.A., Vol. 1, P. 78.)
- 8. Within that response the documents of CoreFirst as introduced into evidence showed:
 - a. Item 2, the title is subject to the interest of the heirs of the Estate of George
 J. Degginger. (Amended R.O.A., Vol. 1, P. 169) and see attending
 exhibits.
 - b. "The 6 rating was assigned because...issues were discovered with the title work and mortgage that put us in a subordinated position behind a federal

- Tax Lien and heirs of the estate." (Amended R.O.A., Vol. 1, P. 174) and see attending exhibits.
- c. Further, Stewart Title Guaranty Company for CoreFirst said that it (CoreFirst) had an unmarketable title. (Amended R.O.A., Vo.l 1, P. 170.)
- d. "Loan is considered impaired due to the issue with our lien position in the collateral. We are subordinated to a Federal Tax Lien 1/a/o \$19,525.28 and we are subject to the estate of George J. Degginger and no one representing the estate has signed. This loan is being evaluated as an unsecured loan given the clouded title issues." (Amended R.O.A., Vol. 1, P. 176.)
- e. Stewart Title Guaranty Company declared title to be in Timothy F.

 Degginger AND the Estate of George J. Degginger and guaranteed
 payment to Capital Title, that title being subject to the Estate and the
 Federal Tax Lien. (Amended R.O.A., Vol. 1, P. 178.)
- f. Capital Title Insurance Co. (hereafter referred to as "Capital") declared title in Timothy F. Degginger and Mary Elizabeth (Betsy) AND the Estate of George J. Degginger. (Amended R.O.A., Vol. 1, P. 176.)
- 9. The Court documents of Capital show there are no mortgages of record by Capital and that last title shows Timothy F. Degginger and Mary Elizabeth (Betsy) Davis

AND the Estate of George J. Degginger are the grantees on the last deed filed. Capital Title Insurance Co. did not sign the mortgage. (Amended R.O.A., Vol. 1, P. 181.)

For three years, the Defendant/Appellant Borrower has been trying to assert his defenses and claims of wrongful mortgage foreclosure which due to misapplication of the Kansas Law and its unity rules on mortgages; has taken a life of its own, and fraud and defalcation by CoreFirst was a result of their taking what they were informed of in 2004 when the Mortgage instrument was created that they had only bargained for in the opinion of the existing records and files to the pledged property only holding an unsecured note.

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

I. Whether the District Court followed Chapter 60 Notice Procedures on the instant Record on Appeal.

Standard of Review

Our scope of review, where the trial court has sustained a motion to dismiss, is concisely defined in Knight v. Neodesha Police Dept., 5 Kan.App.2d 472, 620 P.2d 837 (1980): 'When a motion to dismiss under K.S.A. 60-212(b)(6) raises an issue concerning the legal sufficiency of a claim, the question must be decided from the well-pleaded facts of plaintiff's petition. The motion in such case may be treated as the modern equivalent of a demurrer.' [Citation omitted.] 'Disputed issues of fact cannot be resolved or determined on a motion to dismiss for failure of the petition to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. The question for determination is whether in the light most favorable to plaintiff, and with every doubt resolved in plaintiff's favor, the petition states any valid claim for relief. Dismissal is justified only when the allegations of the petition clearly demonstrate plaintiff does not have a claim.' [Citation omitted.] 'In considering a motion to dismiss for failure of the petition to state a claim for relief, a court must accept the plaintiff's description of that which occurred, along with any inferences reasonably to be drawn therefrom. However, this does not mean the court is required to accept conclusory allegations on the legal effects of events the

plaintiff has set out if these allegations do not reasonably follow from the description of what happened, or if these allegations are contradicted by the description itself.' [Citation omitted.] Bruggeman v. Schimke, 239 Kan. 245, 247, 718 P.2d 635 (1986).

"When we must interpret statutes, our touchstone is legislative intent.

"When courts are called upon to interpret statutes, the fundamental rule governing our interpretation is that 'the intent of the legislature governs if that intent can be ascertained. The legislature is presumed to have expressed its intent through the language of the statutory scheme it enacted.' <u>State ex rel. Stovall v. Meneley, 271 Kan. 355, 378, 22 P.3d 124 (2001)</u>. For this reason, when the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous, courts 'need not resort to statutory construction.' <u>In re K.M.H., 285 Kan. 53, 79, 169 P.3d 1025 (2007)</u>. Instead, '[w]hen the language is plain and unambiguous, an appellate court is bound to implement the expressed intent.' <u>State v. Manbeck, 277 Kan. 224</u>, Syl. ¶ 3, 83 P.3d 190 (2004).

"Where a statute's language is subject to multiple interpretations, however, a reviewing court 'may look to the historical background of the enactment, the circumstances attending its passage, the purpose to be accomplished, and the effect the statute may have under the various constructions suggested. [Citation omitted.]' Robinett v. The Haskell Co., 270 Kan. 95, 100-01, 12 P.3d 411 (2000). Generally, courts should construe statutes to avoid unreasonable results and should presume that the legislature does not intend to enact useless or meaningless legislation. Hawley v. Kansas Dept. of Agriculture, 281 Kan. 603, 631, 132 P.3d 870 (2006). We ascertain the legislature's intent behind a particular statutory provision 'from a general consideration of the entire act. Effect must be given, if possible, to the entire act and every part thereof. To this end, it is the duty of the court, as far as practicable, to reconcile the different provisions so as to make them consistent, harmonious, and sensible. [Citation omitted.] In re Marriage of Ross, 245 Kan. 591, 594, 783 P.2d 331 (1989); see also State ex rel. Morrison v. Oshman Sporting Goods Co. Kansas, 275 Kan. 763, Syl. ¶ 2, 69 P.3d 1087 (2003). Thus, in cases that require statutory construction, 'courts are not permitted to consider only a certain isolated part or parts of an act but are required to consider and construe together all parts thereof in pari materia.' Kansas Commission on Civil Rights v. Howard, 218 Kan. 248, Syl. ¶ 2, 544 P.2d 791 (1975)." Board of Sumner County Comm'rs v. Bremby, 286 Kan. 745, 754-55, 189 P.3d 494 (2008).

Memorandum of Law

The Amended Complaint by CoreFirst begins with a request for Relief of Judgment pursuant to K.S.A. 60- 260(b)(1). (Amended R.O.A., Vol. 1, P. 230.) (See also Appendix "C" – Bank's Rule K.S.A. 60-260(b)(1) Motion which is also an accurate case history to its filing on August 31, 2016.)

George J. Degginger died with an unprobated 50% tenant in common interest to 135 Clay, Topeka, Kansas. CoreFirst wanted to "validate" the Heirs of George J. Degginger thus eliminating the Plaintiff's first judgment where the Honorable Larry D. Hendricks fractionalized the mortgage foreclosure with 3/4 and 1/4 title interest, recognizing that title was in Timothy Degginger AND the Estate of George J. Degginger. (Amended R.O.A., Vol. 1, P. 213.)

Objection was made that the heirs of George J. Degginger required a probate hearing and a request for a determination of descent under K.S.A. 59-502 through 514.

To do that would require CoreFirst to admit that it did not have a valid mortgage of December 3, 2004 and that its note was fraudulently made up, and where the terms of the mortgage could not assess attorney fees, raise interest rates and admit, it had created a fraudulent and putative petition in its first pleadings. (Amended R.O.A., Vol. 1, P. 41.)

CoreFirst could not get paid for attorney fees, could not increase interest rates and would have to admit it created a fraudulent and putative petition all for more money.

David S. Fricke, as an attorney and General Counsel for CoreFirst, represented to the Court that Title to the property was not impaired and whether he knew same cannot be divined from the Record on Appeal as no discovery on this point was allowed by the District Court, however his statements by affidavit were in error and it is Appellant's position that it should have been corrected by subsequent Affidavit when the underlying material facts were made known which effect as a matter of law constitutes a fraud on the Court by not telling the Court that the title was subordinated to the Federal Tax Lien and the Estate of George J. Degginger' all to Appellant's disadvantage to be corrected on this Appeal in determining whether or not attorney's fees should be assessed against an innocent party.

Dana Petrik, Senior Vice President, an employee and agent of CoreFirst knew CoreFirst was a subordinate.

Objection was made by Appellant's Counsel of the fraud of CoreFirst by acknowledging its Title was not fully vested in 12-3-2004. (Amended R.O.A., Vol. 1, P. 254.)

Dana Petrik, Senior Vice President, noted "our [Appellant's]mortgage is signed by Timothy F. Degginger" but the title is vested in Timothy F. Degginger <u>AND</u> the Estate of George J. Degginger. (Emphasis supplied.) (Amended R.O.A, Vol. 1, P. 176.)

The ongoing fraud occurred on 12/3/2004 as a mortgage was signed and then that impaired security was used to create a promissory note on 2/18/2011 notwithstanding

CoreFirst's attributable knowledge. (Amended R.O.A., Vol. 1, PP. 233 and 234.)

Defendant/Appellant's rights were ignored and without formal discovery this fact of a deficient Mortgage under the Unity Rules of Lasater would have been unavailable to the Appellant/Defendant in this litigation to fully advance as this Record demonstrates a vigorous defense to Plaintiff Bank's cause of action to foreclose a non-existent mortgage.

Objection was also made that the Court lacked jurisdiction in personam to foreclose a mortgage where there was no probate and unknown parties in interest. K.S.A. 60-217; and K.S.A. 60-219.

Thus, as the mortgage follows the note K.S.A. 58-2323, the fraud on the Court was in the putative mortgage before the note which only would result in an incomplete unsecured note.

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