No. 18-119208-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

COREFIRST BANK & TRUST f/k/a COMMERCE BANK & TRUST, Plaintiff-Appellee

v.

TIMOTHY F. DEGGINGER a/k/a TIMOTHY DEGGINGER, et al., Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Appeal from District Court of Shawnee County, Kansas Honorable Larry D. Hendricks District Court Case No. 15-CV-412

R. Patrick Riordan, #15518
RIORDAN, FINCHER & BECKERMAN, P.A.
3735 SW Wanamaker Road, Suite A
Topeka, KS 66610
(785) 783-8323
(785) 783-8327 (fax)
riordan@rfb-lawfirm.com
Attorneys for Appellee CoreFirst Bank & Trust f/k/a
Commerce Bank & Trust

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

III. ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES.

On appeal, Degginger raises issues regarding the district court's decisions granting CoreFirst summary judgment on its Amended Petition and Degginger's counterclaim, denying Degginger's motion to dismiss, and granting CoreFirst's motion for attorney fees. Degginger also mentions a number of extraneous matters that fall outside the scope of the issues raised on appeal. This includes references to several pleadings and decisions by the district court prior to the filing of CoreFirst's Amended Petition. These allegations are irrelevant to the current action, unsupported, and not fully briefed. Consequently, these

extraneous issues mentioned by Degginger should be considered waived and abandoned. Superior Boiler Works, Inc. v. Kimball, 292 Kan. 885, 889, 259 P.3d 676 (2011); Manhattan Ice & Cold Storage v. City of Manhattan, 294 Kan. 60, 71, 274 P.3d 609 (2012). Looking at the issues properly briefed by Degginger, this brief will demonstrate that the district court did not err when denying Degginger's renewed motion to dismiss, granting summary judgment in CoreFirst's favor, or granting CoreFirst's motion for attorney fees.

A. The district court did not err in granting summary judgment in favor of CoreFirst on Degginger's counterclaims, and in denying Degginger's renewed motion to dismiss, because there was no factual dispute that Degginger was the sole owner of the Real Estate.

1. Standard of Appellate Review.

Summary judgment is appropriate when the record shows that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Thomas v. Cnty. Comm'rs of Shawnee Cnty.*, 293 Kan. 208, 220, 262 P.3d 336, 345 (2011). Courts resolve all facts and inferences which may reasonably be drawn from the evidence in favor of the party against whom the ruling is sought. *Id.* at 220, 262 P.3d at 345. When opposing a motion for summary judgment, the non-moving party must come forward with sufficient evidence to establish a genuine dispute as to a material fact. *Id.* at 220, 262 P.3d at 345. It follows then that, in order to prevent summary judgment, a disputed fact must be material to the conclusive issues in the case. *Id.* at 220, 262 P.3d at 345. If reasonable minds could differ as to the conclusions to be drawn from the evidence, summary judgment is not appropriate. *Id.* at 220, 262 P.3d at 345. An issue of

fact is not genuine unless it is material to the controlling issues in the case. *Osterhaus v. Toth*, 291 Kan. 759, 768, 249 P.3d 888, 896 (2011). Thus, a disputed question of fact that is immaterial to the controlling issues does not preclude summary judgment. *Bergstrom v. Noah*, 266 Kan. 847, 872, 974 P.2d 531, 552 (1999). That is, if a disputed fact has no effect on the judgment regardless of its resolution, the dispute does not present a genuine issue of material fact. *Id.* at 872, 974 P.2d at 552. On appeal, the Court applies "the same rules and where [it] find[s] reasonable minds could differ as to the conclusions drawn from the evidence, summary judgment must be denied." *Stechschulte v. Jennings*, 297 Kan. 2, 14, 298 P.3d 1083, 1093 (2013).

2. Analysis.

All of Degginger's claims and defenses in this matter stem from the notion that he is not the 100% owner of the Real Estate. From this belief, Degginger filed counterclaims asserting that CoreFirst committed fraud by failing to tell him that he did not have clear title to the Real Estate when he executed the mortgage. (ROA, Vol. I, p. 346). Further, based on the same theory, Degginger also filed a renewed motion to dismiss the Amended Petition. (ROA, Vol. I, p. 354). In this motion he attacked the validity of the underlying mortgage based on the premises that the heirs of George Degginger held an ownership interest in the Real Estate and did not sign the mortgage. (ROA, Vol. I, p. 355). Additionally, he claimed CoreFirst was attempting a disguised quiet title action by now including the heirs of George Degginger as defendants. (ROA, Vol. I, p. 355).

CoreFirst has maintained throughout the litigation that Degginger was the sole owner of the Real Estate. Consequently, CoreFirst filed a motion to dismiss, or in the

alternative for summary judgment, regarding the counterclaims, and contested Degginger's motion to dismiss. (ROA, Vol. I, p. 362; Vol. I, p. 394). On both issues, CoreFirst argued that Degginger's belief about the interests of the heirs of George Degginger was incorrect, and therefore his arguments failed.

In support of its motion for summary judgment, CoreFirst set forth twelve (12) statements of uncontroverted facts. (ROA, Vol. I, pp. 365-367). The majority of these facts addressed the ownership of the Real Estate, and referenced certified copies of various title documents to establish the chain of title for the Real Estate. In response, as the district court found, Degginger controverted only one statement of fact, which alleged that, "The Counterclaims allege that they are fraud claims, and are based on the allegation that the lawful heirs of the estate of George Degginger have an interest in the Real Estate." (ROA, Vol. II, p. 75). Degginger did not controvert any fact regarding the chain of title, or dispute the validity of any document included by CoreFirst. (ROA, Vol. II, pp. 7, 75).

Based on the uncontroverted facts, the district court found that Degginger was the sole owner of the Real Estate at all relevant times. (ROA, Vol. II, pp. 82-83). The evidence brought forward by CoreFirst demonstrated that on October 4, 1958, several years after the death of George Degginger, all the children of George Degginger deeded all of their interests to their mother, Elizabeth Degginger, in a series of quitclaim deeds. (ROA, Vol. II, pp. 79, 82). Elizabeth Degginger then transferred all of her interest in the Real Estate to her son and daughter-in-law, Timothy F. Degginger and Mary E. Degginger, the parents of defendant Degginger, as joint tenants with rights of survivorship. (ROA, Vol. II, p. 79). When Timothy F. Degginger later died, Mary E. Degginger became the sole owner of the

Real Estate. (ROA, Vol. II, p. 79). Mary E. Degginger then died on November 29, 1992, and determination of descent proceedings were initiated in 1998 to address her interest in the Real Estate. (ROA, Vol. II, p. 79). Notably, defendant Degginger initiated and participated in the determination of descent. (ROA, Vol. I, pp. 109-113). Pursuant to the Decree of Descent entered on May 14, 1998, Degginger and his sister, Mary Elizabeth Davis, were awarded the Real Estate as joint tenants with rights of survivorship (ROA, Vol. II, p. 79). When Degginger's sister died on July 13, 1999, Degginger became the sole owner of the Real Estate (ROA, Vol. II, p. 79).

Based on this undisputed chain of title, the district court found that Degginger could not prevail on his counterclaims (ROA, Vol. II, pp. 81-83). Degginger alleged that CoreFirst committed fraud by failing to tell him that he did not have title to the Real Estate; however, as the district court noted, if a statement is not false, a claim of fraud cannot lie (ROA, Vol. II, pp. 81-82); *See Kelly v. VinZant*, 287 Kan. 509, 515, 197 P.3d 803 (2008). The facts here, which Degginger did not controvert, established the chain of title for the Real Estate, and that Degginger was, at all relevant times, the sole owner of the Real Estate (ROA, Vol. II, pp. 81-83). Consequently, CoreFirst could not have engaged in any fraudulent behavior or made any untrue statement regarding the ownership of the Real Estate.

Using the alleged ownership issues, Degginger attempted in both his pleadings to characterize this case as a dispute about a deficient mortgage. The district court rejected these arguments in both orders entered on June 14, 2017, incorporating CoreFirst's legal authorities and arguments, and specifically addressing some of Degginger's other

arguments (ROA, Vol. II, pp. 83-85; Vol. II, p. 88).

Degginger raised unity of interest arguments, which he continues on appeal, to suggest that all owners of property must sign a mortgage or the mortgage will be void (ROA, Vol. I, p. 363). As acknowledged by the district court this rule applies to a grant transferring property in joint tenancy. (ROA, Vol. II, 83-84). The district court found the rule satisfied when George Degginger's only known children transferred all their interests to Elizabeth Degginger (ROA, Vol. II., p. 84).

Despite Degginger's suggestions, Kansas law does not require that all owners sign a mortgage in order for the mortgage to be effective. *See Fed. Land Bank of Wichita v. Shane*, 150 Kan. 175, 92 P.2d 103, 108 (1939). The unities of interests apply to a grant transferring property in joint tenancy, and have no bearing on whether a partial owner can mortgage that owner's partial interest. *See In re Estate of Lasater*, 30 Kan. App. 2d 1024, 54 P.3d 514 (2002). By executing the mortgage, Degginger pledged whatever interest he held in the Real Estate, and CoreFirst could foreclose on that interest, even if Degginger turned out not to be the sole owner.

Overall, as the referenced pleadings demonstrate, the only issue throughout this litigation has been the scope of CoreFirst's mortgage. Degginger did not, and does not now on appeal, dispute that he signed the subject note and mortgage. Degginger only raises a question regarding the extent of his ownership interest. CoreFirst is not trying to enforce a faulty mortgage, or improperly complete a quiet title action, as alleged by Degginger.

After Degginger raised this ownership issue, CoreFirst was simply trying to

determine the interest covered by its mortgage, and ensure that any parties with a known possible interest in the Real Estate were included in the lawsuit, as is typical for a foreclosure action. Degginger was the one who came forward with the claim that the descendants of his aunts were potential interest holders, based on the 1936 deed. Therefore, CoreFirst needed to add them to the Amended Petition. The fact that Degginger did not identify these individuals, as he was directed to do by the district court, and the fact that every one of them disclaimed an interest, does not take away the reason why they were added to the Amended Petition.

In his brief, Degginger now focuses on the fact that there was no probate for his grandfather, George Degginger. Obviously, the time for administrating an estate or probating a will has long passed. However, the time for conducting a determination of descent has not, and Degginger took such action in 1994. Granted, while the 1936 deed, by itself, would make the 1994 determination of descent problematic, which was the district court's concern in March of 2016, the 1958 deeds of George Degginger's children to Elizabether Degginger resolved that issue. As discussed above, Degginger never submitted the 1958 deeds, simply the 1936 deed.

Degginger has come forward with no evidence to dispute the district court's finding that he is the sole owner of the Real Estate. Degginger continues to point only to the 1936 deed, ignoring the subsequent deeds and determination of descent proceedings. As the district court found, the uncontroverted facts showed that when the mortgage was executed Degginger was the sole owner of the Real Estate. For this reason, Degginger's counterclaims and his motion to dismiss were denied. On appeal, Degginger brings forward

no facts or arguments that dispute the district court's rulings.

Finally, Degginger makes various statements about equity and the need for a day in court. However, these arguments ignore his actions in the beginning of the case. Degginger clearly got the opportunity to conduct discovery – it is the means by which he raised the ownership issue when he responded to CoreFirst's original motion for summary judgment. (ROA, Vol. I, p. 78). Once Degginger had the documents produced by CoreFirst, he could have asked for more time to respond to summary judgment and for additional time to conduct specific discovery on the issue. He did neither. Instead, he waited over two months after the district court entered its judgment against him, before he came forward with the 1936 deed. To date, Degginger has ever explained the delay. Consequently, there is no reason why the application of K.S.A. 60-256 and Kan. Sup. Ct. R. 141 is inequitable in this situation. The district court's decision should be affirmed.

B. The district court did not err in granting summary judgment in favor of CoreFirst on its foreclosure claim because there was no dispute as to any material fact.

1. Standard of Appellate Review.

CoreFirst incorporates the standard stated in III. A. 1. above.

2. Analysis.

Under K.S.A. 60-256 and Kan. Sup. Ct. R. 141, a party opposing a motion for summary judgment has an affirmative duty to come forward with sufficient evidence, in the form of affidavits or citations to the record, to establish the existence of a genuine dispute of material fact for trial, or to otherwise show by affidavit why the party is unable to obtain such affidavits or present such evidence. *See* K.S.A. 60-256(e)(2); 60-256(f);

Thomas v. Cnty. Comm'rs of Shawnee Cnty., 293 Kan. 208, 220, 262 P.3d 336 (2011); Miller v. Sirloin Stockade, 224 Kan. 32, 36, 578 P.2d 247 (1978). If the non-moving party fails to fulfill this duty, the motion for summary judgment which shows by affidavit or other proper citation to the record that there is no factual dispute and that judgment is appropriate as a matter of law should be granted and judgment entered. Miller, 224 Kan. at 36; Kan. Sup. Ct. R. 141(f).

CoreFirst filed its motion for summary judgment on April 27, 2017 (ROA, Vol. II, p. 14). CoreFirst set out 24 statements of uncontroverted fact in its memorandum in support of summary judgment (ROA, Vol. II, pp. 18-22). Each statement was supported by evidence in the form of an affidavit from CoreFirst's Executive Vice President and General Counsel, David S. Fricke, or certified copies of the documents referenced (ROA, Vol. II, pp. 18-22). The uncontroverted facts were further supported by loan documents attached to Mr. Fricke's affidavit. (ROA Vol. II, pp. 35-42).

Degginger's response was due on May 19, 2017; however, he failed to file any response. During this time, Degginger continued to litigate issues regarding his counterclaims and renewed motion to dismiss, including a premature appeal of the district court's ruling on the same (ROA, Vol. II, p. 105). CoreFirst repeatedly referenced the pending motion for summary judgment on its foreclosure claim, and Degginger's appeal was ultimately dismissed because of this pending motion (ROA, Vol. II, p. 108). Still, Degginger filed no response after the mandate was returned on December 18, 2017.

On January 26, 2018, the district court proceeded under Kan. Sup. Ct. R. 141(f) (ROA, Vol. II, p. 111). Degginger had been given ample time to respond to the motion

for summary judgment, but failed to do so. Consequently, the district court found CoreFirst complied with Kan. Sup. Ct. R. 141(a), and deemed CoreFirst's uncontroverted facts admitted (ROA, Vol. II, pp. 111-112). Based on these facts, the district court granted judgment in CoreFirst's favor on its foreclosure claim (ROA, Vol. II, pp. 111-118).

Following the entry of judgment, Degginger filed a "Motion for New Trial; in the Alternative, Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment; or Grant Defendant's Renewed Motion to Dismiss" on February 9, 2018 (ROA, Vol. II, p. 118). In this motion, Degginger sought relief from the judgment, citing to K.S.A. 60-259(a) and K.S.A. 60-260(b)(6) (ROA, Vol. II, p. 118). Degginger raised many of the same arguments made in his renewed motion to dismiss and in response to CoreFirst's motion for summary judgment on the counterclaims. Degginger did not address why a response to CoreFirst's motion for summary judgment was never filed.

CoreFirst responded to Degginger's motion for a new trial on February 23, 2018. (ROA, Vol. II, p. 152). The district court denied the motion and adopted CoreFirst's facts, argument and authorities, and stated that Degginger "has failed to provide any of the grounds outlined in K.S.A. 60-260" and found that "K.S.A. 60-259 is not appropriate and if appropriate the defendant has failed to provide any of the grounds outlined in that statute." (ROA, Vol. II, p. 169).

On appeal, Degginger does not cite to any evidence ignored by the district court, does not come forward with any applicable authority to show that the district court incorrectly ruled, and does not give any explanation for why he failed to respond to

CoreFirst's motion.

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